## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**



Morgan Dignowity, et. al., Plaintiffs-Appellants

vs.

Konrad Dignowity, Defendant-Appellee

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellants, Morgan Dignowity and Regina Dignowity, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Morgan Dignowity Plaintiff-Appellant.
- 2. Regina Dignowity Plaintiff-Appellant.
- 3. Konrad Dignowity Defendant-Appellee.
- 4. Ida Dignowity Ward of Konrad Dignowity.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

In this case the Chancellor granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and awarded attorney fees for defending the suit. The issues presented for review are whether or not the Chancellor applied the proper legal standard in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and in awarding the defendant attorney fees and whether or not the Chancellor's findings were manifestly wrong or were not supported by credible evidence.

Another issue is whether or not the Chancellor erred in not allowing the Plaintiff/Appellants to call a witness who was present in the Courtroom at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### (1) COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Morgan Dignowity and Regina Dignowity filed suit against Konrad Dignowity, Conservator of the Estate of Ida Dignowity, for specific performance of a contract for the sale of land on January 26, 2005. A copy of the contract is attached to the Complaint as an Exhibit to the Complaint. (Clerk's Papers, pages 19-29).

On February 25, 2005, the defendant, Konrad Dignowity, filed his Answer and Counter-Claim. (Clerk's Papers, pages 30-46).

On March 28, 2005, the plaintiffs, Morgan Dignowity and Regina Dignowity, filed their

Response to Affirmative Defenses and Answer to Counter-Claim. (Clerk's Papers, pages 47-55).

Konrad Dignowity, defendant, filed his Motion for Summary Judgment on or about June 13, 2005. (Clerk's Papers, pages 56-122).

Morgan and Regina Dignowity filed their Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on June 28, 2005. (Clerk's Papers, pages 123-128).

The hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment was originally set for June 28, 2005, and on July 8, 2005, *nunc pro tunc* June 29, 2005, the Court entered an Order resetting the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment on July 28, 2005 and also requiring the Plaintiffs to post a cash bond in the amount of \$15,000 to prevent Summary Judgment from being granted without a hearing and further stating that the \$15,000 cash both would be used to satisfy attorney fees in the event that the Court found merit to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (Clerk's Papers, pages 129-130).

A hearing was held on the Motion for Summary Judgment on July 28, 2005. (See Reporter's Transcript. On September 23, 2005, the Court signed an Order granting the Defendant's Motion for

Summary Judgment and awarded attorneys fees and costs. (Clerk's Papers, pages 131-132).

Konrad Dignowity, through counsel, filed a Petition for Attorney Fees and Costs on or about October 28, 2005. (Clerk's Papers, pages 133-143). The Defendant never took action to bring the Petition before the Court.

On December 5, 2005, Konrad Dignowity filed a Petition for Attachment and Monetary Judgment. (Clerk's Papers, pages 144-150). The Defendant never took action to bring the Petition before the Court.

As the Defendant never brought his Counter-Claim on to be heard nor the two Petitions mentioned above, the case was eventually dismissed as a stale case on January 8, 2009 which became effect thirty (30) days from the date of entry. (Clerk's Papers, page 151).

The Plaintiffs gave timely Notice of Appeal and took all necessary further actions to perfect their appeal. (Clerks Papers, pages 152-164).

#### (2) STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This hearing on the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard by Chancellor Glenn Alderson in the Chancery Court of Marshall County, Mississippi, on July 28, 2005.

KONRAD DIGNOWITY'S CASE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Konrad Dignowity's case at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment consisted of argument from his counsel. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 3-12).

### MORGAN DIGNOWITY AND REGINA DIGNOWITY'S CASE AGAINST SUMMARY JUDGMENT

At the hearing on the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Morgan Dignowity and Regina Dignowity presented the following witnesses:

#### KONRAD DIGNOWITY

Konrad Dignowity was called as an adverse witness. Konrad testified that he was the eldest son of Konrad Dignowity, deceased, and Ida Dignowity. He further stated that he was Ida's Conservator. He stated that in 1993, his father, Konrad Dignowity, and his mother, Ida Dignowity, agreed to sell the property in question to Morgan for \$200,000.00 at 0% interest with payments of \$1,000.00 per month. Konrad Dignowity, Sr. passed away in 2000 but to his knowledge Morgan and Regina Dignowity moved into the house in 1993 and made payments to their parents as per the agreement. It was his further understanding that there was later an agreement whereby the price of the house subject to the suit was reduced to \$100,000.00 upon Morgan and Regina assuming a note on a liquor store owned by Konrad, Sr. and Ida. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 13-15).

Konrad testified that in 2002 he and his sister, Gretchen McAlexander, obtained a Power of Attorney from their mother, Ida, after they decided that the power of attorney was necessary. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 16-17).

Konrad identified the Contract that is the basis of this suit and stated that his wife prepared the contract. He also identified a letter dated February 2, 2004 where he offered to sell the property to Morgan and Regina Dignowity for \$120,000.00. (Reporter's Transcript, page 19).

On direct examination Konrad Dignowity testified that Ida Dignowity was not in good health on the October 26, 2003, the date of the contract. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 20-21).

#### **GRETCHEN MCALEXANDER**

Gretchen McAlexander also testified. She stated that she was the daughter of Konrad Dignowity and Ida Dignowity. She testified that she and her brother Konrad were granted Power of Attorney over Ida Dignowity on December 12, 2002 and that her brother Konrad was appointed Conservator of Ida Dignowity on January 26, 2004. Gretchen also was aware of the 1993 agreement

ι

i

to sell the property in question to Morgan and Regina Dignowity for \$200,000.00 at 0% interest with payments of \$1,000.00 per month. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 21-23).

On cross examination Gretchen McAlexander stated that her mother, Ida, was not good in October, 2003.

#### **IDA DIGNOWITY**

The Plaintiffs attempted to call Ida Dignowity to the stand but the Court would not allow her to be called as a witness. Reporter's Transcript, pages 27-30).

### MORGAN DIGNOWITY

Morgan Dignowity was the next witness at the hearing on the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Morgan testified that he and his parents, Konrad and Ida, had an agreement in 1993 for him and Regina to buy the old family home for \$200,000.00 at 0% interest which was later modified. Morgan stated that he had the necessary money to purchase the home. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 30-32).

On cross examination, Morgan testified that he wanted to buy the property in question and that he had the money to do so and further described the discussions regarding the sale of the property and that Konrad had failed to respond to his communications regarding the purchase of the property. (Reporter's Transcript, pages 32-36).

After hearing the arguments of both counsel (Reporter's Transcript, pages 37-42), the Court sustained the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and awarded and undetermined amount of attorney fees. (Reporter's Transcript, page 43).

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is not a substitute for a trial on the merits of disputed facts and should ve granted only if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. In the case before the Court there were many issues of material fact and the Court erred in granting the Defendant/Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Chancellor erred in granting undetermined attorney fees to the Defendant/Appellee. Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure makes no provision for attorney fees to the prevailing party when the Motion is granted. The Plaintiff's filed there Complaint for Specific Performance for the sale of land in good faith based upon a writing signed by the party to be charged and upon an oral agreement that was admitted by the Defendant/Appellee.

The Chancellor erred in not allowing the Plaintiff/Appellants to call a witness who was present at the hearing. Rule 601 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence states that every person is competent to be a witness with some exceptions, none of which apply in the present case.

### **ARGUMENT**

The Plaintiff/Appellants, Morgan and Regina Dignowity (hereinafter "Morgan and Regina"), entered into an oral agreement with his parents in about 1993 for Morgan and Regina to purchase his parents' home in Marshall County, Mississippi, for \$200,000.00 at zero per cent interest with payments of \$500.00 per month. That agreement was later modified to \$100,000.00 with Morgan and Regina agreeing to assume a \$94,000.00 loan. All parties agree that this was the agreement between Morgan and Regina and his parents and all agree that Morgan and Regina moved into the home, maintained the home, and made payments on the home.

Morgan's father later died. On October 26, 2003, Morgan's mother, Ida Dignowity, signed a seven page written document that provided for the sale of the property to Morgan and Regina. (Clerk's Papers, pages 23-29).

§15-3-1 of the *Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated* contains Mississippi's Statute of Frauds requiring certain types of contracts to be in writing, one being a contract for the sale of lands. Morgan and Regina concede that the oral agreement that they had with Morgan's parents did not meet the requirements of the Statute of Frauds, however, in good faith they do feel that the October 26, 2003 document signed by Ida Dignowity does meet the requirements of the Statute in that everyone agrees that there was an oral agreement and §15-3-1 only requires that the writing be signed by the party to be charged, in this case Ida Dignowity.

Based on the above, the Chancellor erred in granting the Defendant/Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing Morgan and Regina's Complaint for Specific Performance for the sale of the Dignowity home that they had occupied and made payments on for many years. Certainly there were many genuine issues of material fact that deserved a full trial on the merits of

7

the case.

Morgan and Regina also contend that the Chancellor erred in requiring them to post a bond in the amount of \$15,000.00 to prevent summary judgment from being entered without a hearing and also in awarding unspecified attorney fees to the Defendant/Appellant.

Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure make no provision for the awarding of attorney fees to the prevailing party if the prevailing party is the moving party. Rule 56 only provides for attorney fee to the prevailing party when summary judgment is denied. In the Order Granting Summary Judgment the Chancellor ruled that attorney fees should be awarded on the Defendant's Counter-Claim which would have required a finding that the Complaint for Specific Performance filed by Morgan and Regina was frivolous, was without substantial justification, or was for the purpose of harassment or delay.

All parties agree that there was an oral agreement. While it is conceded that the oral agreement does not meet the requirements of the Statute of Frauds, it should be noted that Morgan and Regina and Morgan's parents honored that oral agreement for more than a decade with Morgan and Regina living on the property and making payments as agreed. After Morgan's father's death, a written document was prepared and signed by Ida providing for the sale of the property to Morgan and Regina.

Morgan and Regina sincerely believe that the written document signed by Ida met the requirements of the Statute of Frauds and that their actions in filing the Complaint for Specific Performance cannot be called frivolous, without substantial justification, or for the purpose of harassment or delay. Morgan and Regina feel that the Chancellor was in error in requiring them to post a bond to prevent summary judgment without a hearing and in awarding attorney fees to the Defendant/Appellee.

8

Ida Dignowity was present in Court the day of the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment. When Morgan and Regina attempted to call Ida to the stand they were prevented from doing so by the Chancellor.

Rule 601 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence state that, "Every person is competent to be a witness....." and then goes on to state some exceptions none of which apply to Ida.

The Chancellor should have allowed Morgan and Regina to develop their record and present the testimony of Ida. The Chancellor could have completely ignored or disregarded her testimony as the finder of fact but that goes only to her credibility as a witness and not to the admissibility of her relevant testimony.

Morgan and Regina feel that the Chancellor erred in not allowing them to present the testimony of a competent witness who had specific knowledge of the facts in issue.

# **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated herein, Morgan and Regina pray that this Honorable Court will reverse the decision of the Chancellor granting the Defendant/Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and remand the case to the Court below with directions to restore the case to the trial docket, to dispense with the requirement of posting a \$15,000 bond, to allow the testimony of Ida Dignowity, and to find that the Defendant/Appellee is not entitled to attorney fees.