### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### No. 2009-CA-00368

## MORGAN DIGNOWITY AND REGINA DIGNOWITY

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS

VS.

# KONRAD DIGNOWITY, AS CONSERVATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF IDA DIGNOWITY

#### DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE KONRAD DIGNOWITY

W. Brett Harvey, MB #
PHELPS DUNBAR LLP
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 600
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-2122
P. O. Box 23066
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3066

Telephone: (601) 352-2300 Telecopier: (601) 360-9777 Rachel M. Pierce, MB # PHELPS DUNBAR LLP
Seventh Floor, One Mississippi Plaza 201 South Spring Street
Tupelo, Mississippi 38804
Post Office Box 1220

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This lawsuit is a thinly-disguised attempt to re-litigate matters adjudicated by the Agreed Order in the 2004 conservatorship proceeding. Chancellor Alderson—who had presided over the conservatorship proceeding—recognized that fact and granted summary judgment. That result is indisputably correct. The Agreed Order explicitly holds that Ida Dignowity is the owner of the Wingo Road

Property, that Morgan Dignowity was a "month-to-month tenant" with no ownership interest, and that the property was to be sold for not less than its \$159,000 appraised value. Consequently, Morgan's claims to ownership—or the right to purchase below the appraised value—are barred by collateral estoppel.

Even if these issues had not been decided by the Agreed Order, Morgan cannot establish any claim of ownership to the property. He relies on a 2003 Land Contract, which was not executed by Ida Dignowity, by either of the individuals holding power of attorney on her behalf, or by anyone else. The only writings by Ida Dignowity on the Land Contract are proposed handwritten changes, signifying ongoing negotiations, not acceptance. The signature block is blank. Consequently, Morgan's reliance on the Land Contract is barred by the statute of frauds.

Morgan's objections to the posting of a bond pending summary judgment are similarly meritless. Upon reviewing the parties' summary judgment briefs, the Chancellor recognized Morgan's complaint was an attempt to re-litigate matters adjudicated by the Agreed Order. He therefore gave Morgan a choice whether to accept dismissal on the briefs or post a bond to cover attorneys' fees and proceed to a hearing. In doing so, the Chancellor acted well within his inherent power to dismiss frivolous claims and/or impose sanctions for abuse of the legal process. Even if he had not, Morgan failed to object to the bond requirement in the trial court, and thereby waived any objection on appeal.

Finally, the Chancellor did not abuse his discretion in excluding Ida Dignowity's testimony during the summary judgment hearing. As shown below, Morgan's claims of ownership fail as a matter of law, under both the doctrine of collateral estoppel and the statute of frauds. Nothing Ida Dignowity might have said could have cured either of these purely legal, fatal defects in Morgan's claim. Consequently, Ida's testimony was irrelevant and therefore inadmissible under Rule 402 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. The Claim For Specific Performance Is Barred By Collateral Estoppel.

Morgan's Complaint for Specific Performance sought an order compelling Konrad, as conservator of Ida Dignowity's estate, to sell Morgan the Wingo Road Property for less than its appraised value. R. 1:19-22. That request was based on an argument that, while Morgan occupied the property, he was a "purchaser"—not a month-to-month tenant—and therefore certain monthly payments should be credited to him, allowing him to buy the property for \$101,357.44 R. 1:20-21. These issues were adjudicated via the Agreed Order, which explicitly held that Ida Dignowity owned the property, that Morgan was a "month-to-month tenant" rather than a purchaser, and that the property was to be sold for not less than the appraised value of \$159,000. Consequently, Morgan's claim to the Wingo Road Property is barred by collateral estoppel.

The doctrine of collateral estoppel precludes parties from re-litigating specific issues that were (1) actually litigated; (2) determined by; and (3) essential to the judgment in a prior action. *Hollis v. Hollis*, 650 So.2d 1371, 1377 (Miss. 1995), citing *Dunaway v. W.H. Hopper & Associates, Inc.*, 422 So.2d 749, 751 (Miss. 1982). Under settled Mississippi law, issues adjudicated by an agreed order meet all three of these requirements and therefore have the same preclusive effect as any other judgment on the merits. *See*, *e.g.*, *Smith v. Malouf*, 826 So.2d 1256, 1259 (Miss. 2002) (determinations of fact in an agreed order have full collateral estoppel effect).

Indeed, the Mississippi Supreme Court explained in *Guthrie v. Guthrie* that a "consent judgment acquires the incidents of, and will be given the same force and effect as, judgments rendered after litigation. It is binding and conclusive, operating as res judicata and an estoppel to the same extent as judgments after contest." 102 So.2d 381, 383 (Miss. 1958); *see also Davis v. Davis*, 983 So.2d 358, 362-63 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (determinations of fact in agreed child support order were "the equivalent of res judicata"); *Richardson v. Audubon Ins. Co.*, 948 So.2d 445, 449-50 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (determination in agreed order as to rightful recipient of insurance proceeds collaterally estopped any challenge).

Here, Morgan and his attorney consented to the November 2004 Agreed Order in the conservatorship proceeding. The Order made the following determinations:

- (1) "Ida J. Dignowity is the owner of a parcel of real property located in Marshall County, Mississippi"—that is, the Wingo Road Property. R. Vol. 2, unnumbered Exhibit D at ¶ 2.
- (2) "Morgan Dignowity is currently living on the premises" of the Wingo Road Property "as a month-to-month tenant, as defined by Miss. Code Ann. § 89-8-19 and the Residential Lease Agreement between the parties." *Id.* at ¶ 5.
- (3) "The Court . . . grants Konrad E. Dignowity, III as Conservator of the person and property of Ida J. Dignowity, authority to sell the [Wingo Road Property] for not less than the appraised value of \$159,000." *Id.* at ¶ 8.

Under settled law, these determinations are as final and binding as if they had been made by a jury after a full trial on the merits. *See, e.g., Smith*, 826 So.2d at 1259. They prohibit Morgan from re-litigating (1) the ownership of the Wingo Road Property; (2) whether he was a purchaser or a "month-to-month tenant" during his occupancy of the property; and (3) whether he is entitled to purchase the property for less than the \$159,000 appraised value.

In sum, the Agreed Order bars this backdoor attempt by Morgan to obtain the Wingo Road Property for less than the full appraised value. Consequently, this Court need go no further: the Chancellor was correct to dismiss this action based on collateral estoppel, and summary judgment should be affirmed.

# II. Morgan's Claim To Ownership Of The Wingo Road Property Is Barred By The Statute Of Frauds.

Even if it were not barred by collateral estoppel, Morgan's underlying claim to ownership of the Wingo Road Property fails on its merits. Mississippi's statute of frauds requires that all contracts involving the transfer of land be (1) in writing; and (2) signed by the party to be bound. MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-3-1(c); *Allred v. Fairchild*, 785 So.2d 1064, 1069 (Miss. 2001). Morgan has conceded that these two requirements are absolute, and that the alleged oral agreements under which he occupied the Wingo Road Property cannot satisfy the statute of frauds. R. 1:125 ("The Plaintiffs must concede that an oral contract for the sale of land is unenforceable.").

Instead of pointing to a purported oral contract, Morgan relies on the unexecuted 2003 Land Contract, which he attaches as Exhibit A to his complaint. R. 1:23-29. The Land Contract was not executed by anyone. The signature block is entirely blank. R. 1:29. In his appellate brief, Morgan states that he "sincerely believes" the Land Contract was signed by Ida. See Appellant's Br. at 8. This strange belief apparently is based solely on a pair of handwritten proposed changes to the Land Contract made by Ida Dignowity. R. 1:23-24. Ida wrote her name beside these proposed changes to indicate they were hers and dated them. Id. Morgan's implicit assertion that these handwritten changes constitute Ida's "signature" of the Land Contract is disingenuous and wrong as a matter of law.

Under Mississippi law, a signature does not satisfy the statute of frauds unless "it conveys an intention to authenticate the writing." Theobald v. Nosser, 752 So.2d 1036, 1040 (Miss. 1999), quoting Vess Beverages, Inc. v. The Paddington Corp., 886 F.2d 208, 213 (8th Cir. 1989). As a matter of basic logic, a party's handwritten changes to the substance of a contract cannot constitute an "authentication" or "execution" of the contract. Such changes constitute a counterproposal, not an acceptance. See generally Graham v. Anderson, 397 So.2d 71, 72 (Miss. 1981) (response seeking terms different from initial offer on land contract was a counter offer, not an acceptance). This is especially true where, as here, the party to be bound signed only the proposed handwritten changes and did not sign the contract in the place clearly designated for that purpose. R. 1:23-24.

Further, even if Ida Dignowity's handwritten changes could be construed as a "signature" for purposes of the statute of frauds, the agreement would nonetheless be void under its own express terms. The "Additional Provisions" clause of the Land Contract expressly requires it be signed by one of two people—Konrad Dignowity or Ida's daughter Gretchen McAlexander—having power of attorney over Ida Dignowity. R. 1:28. Neither Konrad nor Gretchen signed the contract. R. 1:29.

In sum, any argument that the Land Contract was enforceable should have been made prior to entry of the November 2004 Agreed Order in the conservatorship proceeding, and is now barred by collateral estoppel. But even if

Morgan's belated attempt to re-litigate ownership of the property were not barred, the Land Contract was not executed by anyone and is a legal nullity.

## III. The Chancery Court Did Not Err In Requiring A Bond.

Morgan contends that the Chancellor erred in requiring him to post a bond in the amount of \$15,000 "to prevent summary judgment from being entered without a hearing." See Appellant's Br. at 8; R.1:129-30 (hereinafter, the "Bond Order"). There are multiple, fatal defects in this argument.

A. The Bond Order was a proper exercise of the Chancellor's inherent authority to impose sanctions to deter abuse of the judicial process.

First, the Bond Order was an entirely proper exercise of the Chancellor's inherent authority. Morgan contends that the Bond Order was improper because it required him to post bond "to prevent summary judgment from being entered without a hearing." Appellants' Br. at 8. In fact, Morgan received a full hearing on summary judgment. But even if he had not, the Chancellor acted well within his discretion by requiring a bond to cover attorneys' fees before allowing further litigation of a frivolous complaint designed to re-litigate matters adjudicated by the 2004 Agreed Order.

Put simply, there is no "right" by which a plaintiff is entitled to a summary judgment hearing, irrespective of the merits of his claim. To the contrary, the Mississippi Supreme Court consistently has held that trial courts have inherent authority to dismiss frivolous complaints *sua sponte* prior to trial or hearing, or

even before process has issued. See, e.g., Blanks v. State, 594 So.2d 25, 28 (Miss. 1992) ("If ... the complaint is frivolous, process need not be issued."). A trial court's inherent power to dismiss a frivolous complaint is distinct from it power to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), and is therefore reviewed only for abuse of discretion. See Duncan v. Johnson, \_\_\_ So.3d \_\_\_, 2009 WL 596661 at \*1 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (not yet published; copy attached), citing Neitzke v. Williams, 490 U.S. 319, 326 (1989); see also Huggins v. State, 928 So.2d 981, 983 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), citing Dock v. State, 802 So.2d 1051, 1056 (Miss. 2001).

Similarly, under Rule 11 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, trial judges are afforded broad discretion in awarding attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in responding to frivolous claims. *See, e.g., Eatman v. City of Moss* Point, 809 So.2d 591, 593 (Miss. 2000). This includes the inherent authority to impose *sua sponte* whatever sanctions or restraints—at whatever stage of the proceedings—the court deems necessary to prevent or remedy abuse of the judicial process. *See, e.g., Tricon Metals & Serv's, Inc. v. Topp,* 537 So.2d 1331, 1335 (Miss. 1989).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Morgan contends that the imposition of attorneys' fees "would have required a finding that the Complaint for Specific Performance . . . was frivolous, was without justification, or was for the purpose of harassment or delay." Appellant's Br. at 8. Where a trial court imposes sanctions like attorneys' fees, the reviewing court will presume that such findings have been made, and reviews only to determine whether said findings would be supported by evidence. See, e.g., Hine v. Anchor Lake Property Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 911 So.2d 1001, 1005 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (factual findings supporting sanctions, if not expressly made, are inferred), citing Watson v. Lillard, 493 So.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss.1986) (Supreme Court will "assume that the trial judge made all findings of fact that were necessary to support his verdict.").

The upshot is simple: the Chancellor had full authority to dismiss Morgan's complaint—at any point in the proceedings—based on the conclusion that it was a frivolous attempt to re-litigate matters adjudicated by the Agreed Order. Rather than take action upon the initial filing of the complaint, the Chancellor waited until both parties had submitted their summary judgment briefs before issuing the Bond Order. R. 1:129-30.

In his appellate brief, Morgan does not dispute the Chancellor's substantive conclusion that his claims had been adjudicated via the Agreed Order, nor could he. That is to say, he does not dispute that the Chancellor could have simply dismissed the complaint based on the summary judgment briefs—and imposed sanctions for a duplicative filing—without holding any hearing. Since the Chancellor could have summarily dismissed this lawsuit and imposed sanctions without any hearing, he cannot have erred in giving Morgan the option either to (1) accept early dismissal; or (2) post a bond to cover the defendant's litigation costs, and proceed to a summary judgment hearing.

## B. Morgan's objection to the Bond Order has been waived.

Second, any objection to the Bond Order has been waived. Indeed, it has been waived on more than one occasion. To begin with, Morgan has appealed the grant of summary judgment, not the order requiring bond be posted. His notice of appeal does not mention the July 8, 2005 Order imposing the bond requirement. R. 1:7. Instead, it refers "particularly" to the Chancellor's "Order Granting

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment." *Id.* Further, Morgan never raised any objection in the Chancery Court to posting the bond.<sup>3</sup> Consequently, for this additional reason, any objection to the bond requirement is waived. *See, e.g., Gale v. Thomas,* 759 So.2d 1150, 1159 (Miss. 1999) ("[A]n issue not raised before the lower court is deemed waived and is procedurally barred.").

# C. The Bond Order has no bearing on whether summary judgment was proper.

Third, even if the Bond Order were somehow improper and Morgan's objection to it were not waived, this issue has absolutely no bearing on the propriety of summary judgment here. Morgan does not contend that summary judgment was actually entered "without a hearing," nor could he. As the record and the parties' briefs make clear, the Bond Order was entered *after* Morgan's attorney submitted a summary judgment memorandum. R. 1:123-26; 1:129-30. Morgan was later permitted to conduct a full oral argument before the Chancery Court, complete with testimony from multiple witnesses. R. 3:12-41.

The simple fact is that Morgan was afforded every opportunity to advance his arguments on summary judgment. Thus, even if this Court somehow found that the Bond Order was in error, the correct result in this appeal would nonetheless be to affirm summary judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Morgan and his attorney designated those documents to be included in the appellate record, R. 3:154, and were afforded the opportunity to review the record from the Marshall County Chancery Court, R. 2:166. Nothing in the record indicates that Morgan ever objected to the July 8, 2005 Order imposing the bond requirement.

# IV. The Chancery Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Excluding The Testimony Of Ida Dignowity.

Finally, Morgan argues that the Chancellor erred in preventing Ida Dignowity from testifying at the summary judgment hearing. A decision to exclude testimony is reviewed only for abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Kindred v. Columbus Country Club, Inc., 918 So.2d 1281 (Miss. 2005). Further, unless an abuse of discretion is prejudicial to the appellant, a reviewing court will not reverse the ruling. See, e.g., Shaw v. State, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss. 2005). No such abuse or prejudice occurred here. To the contrary, Ida Dignowity's testimony was irrelevant as a matter of law, and therefore inadmissible.

Morgan's attorney stated that he intended to call Ida Dignowity to testify about the "written agreement"—that is, the 2003 Land Contract. R. 3:28. Upon an objection by Konrad's counsel, the Chancellor excluded Ida Dignowity's testimony based on a finding that the Land Contract was a legal nullity. R. 3:28 ("I'm going to rule there is no agreement.").

In other words, the Chancellor correctly found that any testimony from Ida about the Land Contract was irrelevant as a matter of law. As the Chancellor previously had indicated, any assertion that the Land Contract gave Morgan an ownership interest was (1) barred by collateral estoppel, based on the 2004 Agreed Order; and (2) barred by the statute of frauds, since the Contract had not been executed. Nothing Ida Dignowity might have said could have changed either legal

conclusion. Consequently, her testimony was properly excluded as irrelevant under Rule 402 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. *See* Miss. R. Evid. 402 ("Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible."). Further, because Morgan's claims failed as a matter of law, the exclusion of Ida's testimony could not have been prejudicial to him, and thus cannot provide a basis for reversal of the Chancery Court. *See*, *e.g.*, *Shaw*, 915 So.2d at 445.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellee Konrad Dignowity, in his capacity as conservator of the Estate of Ida Dignowity, respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment of the Chancery Court in all respects, with all costs assessed to the Appellants.